D.A. 35-92

047

**FLORIDA SUPREME COURT
CASE NO. 79,061**

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 16 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

**TOM GALLAGHER, as Florida
Commissioner of Insurance and
Treasurer; GERALD A. LEWIS, as
Florida Comptroller; J. THOMAS
HERNDON, as Executive Director
of the Department of Revenue,
State of Florida; DEPARTMENT
OF INSURANCE, STATE OF FLORIDA;
DEPARTMENT OF BANKING, STATE OF
FLORIDA; and DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,**

Appellants/Cross Appellees,

v.

**MOTORS INSURANCE CORPORATION;
CIM INSURANCE CORPORATION;
MIC PROPERTY AND CASUALTY
INSURANCE CORP.; MIC INSURANCE
CORPORATION; and MIC GENERAL
INSURANCE CORPORATION,**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

References to the record in this case are designated "R___." References to trial exhibits in this case are designated by party and exhibit number.

This appeal arises from a final judgment entered by the Honorable Ted Steinmeyer, Circuit Judge, Florida Second Judicial Circuit, after a trial on the merits. The judgment declared that: (1) Section 624.509, et seq., Florida Statutes, (the insurance premium tax), as it read prior to July 1, 1988, (and during the period 1983-1988) violated the Equal Protection Clause and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the Due Process Clause of the Florida Constitution; (2) Section 624.429, Florida Statutes, (the "retaliatory tax") does not violate the Equal Protection Clause or the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution; (3) Section 624.429, Florida Statutes, does not violate the Privileges and Immunities Clause (article IV, section 2) of the United States Constitution, nor does this section constitute an invalid delegation of legislative authority under article III of the Florida Constitution¹; (4) the tax imposed by section 624.515, Florida Statutes (Fire Marshall tax) does not apply to insurance premiums for vehicles issued by Appellees (Plaintiffs below); and (5) Appellees (Plaintiffs below) failed to establish a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The trial court rendered judgment on November 13, 1991. Appellants (Defendants below) timely noticed this appeal.

¹ The trial court disposed of these constitutional challenges to the retaliatory tax on motions for summary judgment.

Appellees (plaintiffs below) are foreign corporations licensed by the State of Florida to write insurance in Florida (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Motors"). Motors was subject to premium tax, as it stood prior to July 1, 1988, and to tax under section 624.429, Florida Statutes (retaliatory tax). Motors paid premium taxes pursuant to section 624.509, et. seq., Florida Statutes, during the years 1983-1988.

Motors sought a declaratory judgment that Florida's premium tax imposed by section 624.509, Florida Statutes, as it read prior to July 1, 1988, unconstitutionally discriminated against it, by reason of its combined effect together with sections 624.512 and 624.514, Florida Statutes (in their pre-July, 1988 form), and demanded a refund of all premium taxes paid for the years 1983-1988.

Section 624.509, Florida Statutes, imposed a premium tax on insurers writing insurance in Florida at the rate of 2% of gross premiums written (excluding certain credits and exemptions not relevant here). Section 624.512, Florida Statutes, exempted insurance companies which (cumulatively) were organized under Florida law, maintained their home offices in Florida, and complied with the requirements of Sections 627.271 and 627.281, Florida Statutes, by maintaining their books and records in Florida and by maintaining physical possession of their assets in Florida. Section 624.514, Florida Statutes, granted a 50% reduction in the tax rate imposed by Section 624.509, Florida Statutes, to insurers organized under the laws of other jurisdictions, but electing to own and maintain a regional home office in Florida and to keep therein certain records pertaining to their activities.

Motors contended below that the result of this tax structure was discrimination of an invidious and unconstitutional nature against foreign, or non-domestic, insurers. (R1-13, 239-241, 303-326, 452-455).

Appellants (defendants below) (hereinafter collectively referred to as "the State") denied that the premium tax was unconstitutional. The State asserted, and substantiated with proof, that the premium tax statute advanced legitimate state regulatory goals. It asserted that, when considering the constitutionality of a statute under the Equal Protection Clause, the court may consider purposes in addition to those expressly noted by the legislature.² The evidence established, and the trial court found, that the State has a legitimate interest in acquiring the greatest possible degree of regulatory control over the insurance industry serving Florida citizens, and that Florida in fact, has more regulatory authority and control over a domestic insurer (as defined for purposes of the tax exemption) than it has, or can ever have, over a similarly situated foreign insurer. (R1443-1451, 1464-1466, 1469-1470; Defendants' Composite Trial Exhibit No. 8, deposition transcript of A. Hofflander, Vol. 1, pgs. 48-51, 110-111, Vol. 2, pgs. 183-187; R1324-1325, 1340; R780)

The State asserted that the tax structure was rationally related to the regulatory goal of acquiring the greatest degree of regulatory control possible with respect to the insurance industry serving Florida citizens. The State asserted that the tax advanced that objective on two ways: encouraging the formation of insurers doing business here as domestic insurers,

² The trial court agreed. (R780, 840-842).

subject to Florida's plenary control and influence³, and by encouraging those foreign insurers which did not elect to redomesticate or form a Florida domestic subsidiary, to maintain regional home offices here, thereby subjecting themselves to increased, though not plenary, regulatory control by Florida. (R1373-1382, 1402; R231-233). The State contended, and the court agreed, that whether the statute actually accomplished those purposes is constitutionally irrelevant. (R840-842).

The State adduced first-hand evidence from representatives of insurance companies that the tax structure not only could be rationally conceived to have the intended effect of encouraging the formation of domestic insurers (thereby enhancing Florida's aggregate degree of regulatory control over the insurance industry), but that, in fact, the tax structure did influence insurers to form domestic insurance companies in Florida. (Defendants' Trial Exhibits No. 2, admitted in evidence at R1361-1362, No. 3, admitted in evidence at R1363-1365, and Exhibit No. 4, admitted in evidence at R1366-1367). One company's founder and president testified that, without the Florida domestic premium tax exemption, he would not have elected to domicile his company in Florida. (Defendants' Trial Exhibit No. 2, pgs. 4, 11). Motors' witness contested the degree to which Florida's tax differential would be effective in encouraging the formation of domestic insurers, but he did not dispute that it

³ Contrary to Motors' contentions, the premium tax statute, in particular, section 624.512, Florida Statutes, does not require an insurance company to redomesticate, or change its state of domicile, to Florida in order to qualify for the tax exemption. An insurance company may form a Florida subsidiary which qualifies for exemption, and at the same time, retain its original state of domicile.

could be a positive influence for domestication in Florida on a company making a choice of domicile. (Defendants' Composite Trial Exhibit No. 8, deposition transcript of A. Hofflander, Vol. 1, pgs. 71-77, 84-86, 99, 116).

The trial court found that the State is not limited to purposes expressly voiced by the 1982 legislative session in section 624.512(2), Florida Statutes, and that it may support the constitutionality of the premium tax by showing it to be rationally related to objectives fairly inferred from the statutes, though not expressly mentioned by the 1982 amendments. (R836-842; R779-780). The court found that the objective asserted by the State - the acquisition of the greatest degree of regulatory control over the insurance industry serving Florida policyholders - is a legitimate state goal under Equal Protection Clause analysis (R780, 1102-1103).

The court found that the Legislature could rationally conclude that the premium tax structure in question would encourage the domestication of insurers in Florida and thereby increase the State's ability to regulate the insurance industry. (R780).

The court found that a domestic premium tax exemption does not, in fact, cause an insurance company to change its state of domicile. (R780). Yet, the court found it rational to conclude that the tax structure would encourage the formation of domestic insurers. (R780). Undisputed evidence showed that the tax structure did, in fact, induce several companies to form as Florida domestic insurers. (Defendants' Trial Exhibit Nos. 2, 3 and 4). Motors' witness testified that he could find no statistically significant correlation

between states offering domestic premium tax exemptions and states with the largest numbers of domiciled insurers. (Defendants' Composite Trial Exhibit No. 8, deposition transcript of A. Hofflander, Vol. 1, pgs. 92-96; R1280-1285). However, that same witness noted that economic theory supports the view that the tax preference would encourage the formation of domestic insurers. (Defendants' Composite Trial Exhibit No. 8, deposition transcript of A. Hofflander, Vol. 1, pgs. 77-80). He agreed that the absence of "statistically significant" correlation between states offering such a tax preference and states with large numbers of domiciled insurers is explainable by such influences as the nation's historical pattern of settlement and development of commercial centers. (Defendants' Composite Exhibit No. 8, deposition transcript of A. Hofflander, Vol. 1, pgs. 71-72, 76-77, 85-86). He further testified that the absence of such "statistically significant" correlation does not prove that such a preference was not a significant factor in the minds of company officials deciding where to domicile an insurance company. (Defendants' Composite Trial Exhibit No. 8, deposition transcript of A. Hofflander, Vol. 1, pg. 96).

In light of that testimony, and the direct testimony of insurance company officers that Florida's domestic tax preference did influence the decision to domicile their companies in Florida, the court's finding on this point addresses the wisdom or utility of the inducement, *i.e.*, that it would not alone cause an already-established foreign insurer to re-domesticate to Florida. It does not address the rationality of concluding that the inducement would

encourage the creation of insurers domiciled in Florida, either wholly independent companies or subsidiaries of existing foreign insurers.

The trial court concluded that not even legitimate regulatory interests of the State may be pursued by means of a residency-based distinction, and that employing such a distinction renders otherwise legitimate regulatory objectives illegitimate, for purposes of Equal Protection Clause analysis. (R780).⁴ As a result, the court found that Section 624.509, et. seq., lacks a legitimate state purpose and therefore violates the Equal Protection Clause and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and the Due Process Clause of the Florida Constitution.⁵ (R780).

During the pendency of the case below, the State conducted an examination of Motors. The State determined that Motors had under-reported and underpaid premium tax due for a portion of the period for which Motors seeks a refund of premium tax. The State issued assessments of additional premium tax due. (Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit No. 1, pg. 8,

⁴ "The Court finds that the purpose put forward by the Defendants for this discriminatory tax structure is to acquire a greater degree of regulatory control over insurance companies, which in itself is a legitimate state purpose. The Court finds that forcing a company to change its state of domicile is not a legitimate state purpose for imposing a discriminatory taxing statute However, the Court further finds that the Legislature could have believed that the tax would have the effect of causing a company to change its state of domicile and therefore increase the State's ability to regulate such companies. " (R780, par. 3, 4, 5)

⁵ Based on this finding, the court ordered a refund of premium taxes paid under the premium tax statute during the years 1983-1988, reduced by the amount of retaliatory taxes which Motors would have paid for those years had it not paid premium taxes. The parties below stipulated to the amount of premium taxes paid and the retaliatory taxes owed if the premium tax was declared unconstitutional.

paragraph 20, admitted into evidence at R1251-1252; R713; Defendants' Trial Exhibit No. 10, admitted into evidence at R1602-1603). Motors amended the complaint to challenge these assessments of additional premium tax on the same constitutional grounds. The trial court held the assessments of additional premium tax void due to its holding that the premium tax violated equal protection and due process guarantees. (R781).

The trial court rejected Motors' challenges to another tax, the "retaliatory tax" imposed under section 624.429, Florida Statutes (1987) [subsequently renumbered as section 624.5091, Florida Statutes (1991)]. (R781-782). The trial court ordered a refund of premium tax paid by Motors. As a part of the examination of Motors, the State computed, by means of pro forma assessments, the amount of retaliatory tax which Motors would have owed Florida had Motors not been obligated to Florida for premium tax in the amounts which Motors itself reported as due and owing under the premium tax statutes. The State introduced these calculations in evidence at trial. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 1, admitted into evidence at R1251-1252; R731-737). The court, having found the retaliatory tax immune from Motors' constitutional attacks, ordered the premium tax refund offset by the amount of retaliatory tax computed in those pro forma assessments. (R781-782, 784).

The trial court also invalidated certain Fire Marshal assessments against Motors on non-constitutional grounds. (R782-783).

Finally, the trial court rendered judgment in favor of the State on Motors' claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. (R784).

The State appeals from that portion of the judgment below which declares the premium tax to be in violation of the Equal Protection Clause and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and the Due Process Clause of the Florida Constitution and from that portion of the judgment which declares void the assessments of additional premium tax due from Motors during the period in question.

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err in holding that a distinction in tax treatment between foreign and domestic insurers based upon residency is always prohibited by the Equal Protection Clause and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, or by the Due Process Clause of the Florida Constitution, even where the distinction is rationally related to otherwise legitimate State regulatory objectives, and, upon that basis, declaring invalid the pre-July, 1988 premium tax structure of Sections 624.509, 624.512, and 624.514, Florida Statutes?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The question squarely presented in this case, and in the case of *State of Florida, et al. v. Melahn*, case no. 79,024 is this: Since Congress has expressly removed considerations of federalism from the States' regulation and taxation of the business of insurance, since it is undisputed that maximizing the State's regulatory influence and control of insurers serving Florida policyholders is a legitimate goal, and since Florida has comparatively more control over a domestic insurer than over a foreign insurer operating here, may the State, consistent with principles of equal protection and due process, posit a tax which encourages insurers operating in Florida to form as Florida domestic insurers, or to form domestic subsidiaries, serving Florida residents?

The state submits that the answer must be a resounding "yes."

The Congress is the repository of paramount power to protect and promote principles of federalism in the Union as those principles apply to the governance of interstate commerce. *Art. I, §8, cl. 3, United States Const.* Congress has declared that the interests of federalism are not harmed by insurance premium tax structures such as Florida's in relation to the business of insurance. 15 U.S.C. § 1011, and that the power of the States to impose such tax and regulatory structures "is in the public interest." *Id.* Given that policy decision by Congress, the body vested with direct constitutional power to decide the requirements of federalism in regard to interstate commerce, the courts should not construe

the Equal Protection Clause and the Due Process Clause as containing contrary implied notions of federalism regarding the taxation and regulation of insurance.

If the judiciary is to respect the power of Congress over the governance of interstate commerce, they may not construe the Equal Protection Clause or the Due Process Clause as empowering them to make a policy decision diametrically opposed to that of Congress on the subject. The courts cannot travel on the theory that the Equal Protection Clause or the Due Process Clause sub silentio incorporates notions of federalism coextensive with those of the Commerce Clause, and use their views of such silent notions to impose a rule which Congress has expressly rejected in regard to interstate commerce in insurance. To thus expand the reach of the Equal Protection Clause and the Due Process Clause is to eviscerate Congress' power to decide for the Union the acceptable means of governance of interstate insurance.

This Court therefore must not construe those clauses as equivalent in reach to the Commerce Clause. Yet that is what this Court would be doing, if it affirms the trial court's judgment that Florida's premium tax is unconstitutional. The State urges the Court that, instead, it must employ the traditional rational basis test to judge this tax. Under that standard, the premium tax is unquestionably constitutional.⁶

⁶ It is important here to note what the State does not contend. The State does not assert here that the Equal Protection Clause or the Due Process Clause may never play a role in support of the interests of federalism in our Union. In contexts where Congress has not spoken in the exercise of its Commerce Clause power, perhaps the Equal Protection Clause or the Due Process Clause may validly be viewed as incorporating some implied notions of federalism. However, irrespective of whether an "implied notions of federalism"

The trial court correctly found that the purpose advanced by the State for the tax structure is "in itself ... a legitimate state purpose." (R780). The trial court also correctly found that the tax structure was rationally related to (*i.e.*, could reasonably be viewed as advancing) that objective. (R780). Under appropriate Equal Protection Clause review standards, the trial court should have upheld the validity of the premium tax structure.

The trial court erred because it misunderstood *Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Ward*, 470 U.S. 869 (1985) [hereinafter "*Ward*"]. *Ward* has been construed subsequently by the United States Supreme Court as holding only that "encouraging the formation of new domestic insurance companies within a State...[is] not, standing alone, [a] legitimate state purpose which could permissibly be furthered by discriminating against out-of-state corporations in favor of local corporations." *Northeast Bancorp, Inc. v. Board of Governors of the Fed. Reserve Sys.*, 472 U.S. 159, 177 (1985) (emphasis supplied). Neither *Ward*, nor any case heretofore considering *Ward*, has interpreted it to hold that a distinction drawn between insurers on the basis of residency is invalid, where that distinction is rationally related to the accomplishment of a concededly valid regulatory goal. Yet, the decision below construes *Ward* to hold precisely that.

analysis under those Clauses is appropriate in other contexts, it is exceptionally inappropriate where Congress has expressly exercised its constitutional dominion over interstate commerce and declared that interests of federalism are not offended by methods of taxation and regulation such as Florida's. In this context, the courts must employ traditional rational basis review standards to measure Florida's premium tax. To employ an "implied notions of federalism" analysis here, as a means to arrive at a conclusion exactly contrary to that of Congress, is merely to question the wisdom of Congress through a dangerous subterfuge.

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