#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 79,061

TOM GALLAGHER, as Florida	)	
Commissioner of Insurance and	)	
Treasurer, et al.,	)	
	)	DCA Case No. 91-3704
Appellants,	)	Lower Case No. 90-2046
Cross-Appellees,	)	
	)	
<b>v</b> .	)	
MOTORS INSURANCE CORPORATION,	)	
et al.,	)	
	)	
Appellees,	)	
Cross-Appellants.	)	
	)	

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES AND CROSS-APPEAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANTS

KENNETH R. HART Florida Bar I.D. #192580 STEVEN P. SEYMOE Florida Bar I.D. #501750 ROBERT A. PIERCE Florida Bar I.D. #175399 Ausley, McMullen, McGehee, Carothers & Proctor Post Office Box 391 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-9115

Attorneys for Appellees, Cross-Appellants

##

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

Against this impressive array of decisions, the lower court declared Florida's retaliatory tax constitutional. The lower court did so based upon Eastern Air Lines, Inc. v. DOR, 455 So.2d 311 (Fla. 1984), appeal dismissed, 474 U.S. 892 (1985), which is clearly inapplicable. In Eastern Air Lines, the Florida Legislature set forth the manner in which the Department of Revenue was to calculate the price for a gallon of fuel in order to impose a tax. Under the statute, the price per gallon was to be adjusted annually using the Consumer Price Index ("CPI"). Because CPI's are, by their very nature, a matter of fact which can be quantified, this Court found that the adoption of the CPI constituted a ministerial act and not an unlawful delegation.

By contrast, in this case, each of the other 49 states may substantially and substantively amend their laws and taxing schemes at any time and, as a result, change the obligations and the rate of tax imposed on foreign insurers doing business in Florida. Questions as to what taxes, licenses, fees or other charges are to be included, and what are to be excluded, are policy

determinations, not factual determinations, and such policy determinations are now being left to the legislators of other states and not to the State of Florida.

This distinction is critical and formed the basis for this Court's decision in Eastern Air

Lines:

We think the language of <u>Welch</u> and <u>Freimuth</u> should be interpreted to apply to statutes which incorporate federal statutes or administrative rules which substantively change the law, and not to a statute which incorporates a federal index to provide aid in making a ministerial determination.

<u>Id.</u> at 316.

During argument on this issue, the State conceded that the State is adopting policy determinations of other states:

The way Florida, and every other state that has a retaliatory tax, attempts to influence that policy is to let it be known that, if you change your policy and factually the taxes go up, your companies will owe proportionally more tax in Florida, because we will measure it, and we will compare it to the Florida tax .... [T]he way Florida gets there is to say: We can't change your policy. We can't tell you what laws to adopt. But we will adopt a measuring device, so that if the intent of your policy is to raise taxes, that will have an effect on tax levels in Florida with your companies.

(R. 1003, 1015) Such is clearly a delegation of policymaking authority that only the Florida Legislature may possess.

The Florida Legislature is aware that adopting taxing schemes of other jurisdictions constitutes an unlawful delegation of legislative authority. Under Florida's Income Tax Code, Chapter 220, the Florida Legislature has adopted the United States Internal Revenue Code. See 220.03(1)(n), Florida Statutes (1989). However, in order to keep Florida's version current with the Internal Revenue Code, Florida adopts the Code each and every year, as such Code exists on January 1 of each year. See, e.g., 220.03(1)(n) (1991, 1990, 1989, et seq.); Chapter

91-19, Chapter 90-132, Chapter 90-203, and Chapter 89-356, Laws of Florida. The Florida Legislature does this because of the constitutional prohibition against adopting prospective changes to the Code. See Florida State and Local Taxes, vol. I, published by Tax Section of The Florida Bar, § 12.03(2)(a) (1984); A. England, Report to the House on Proposed Corporate Income Tax Legislation (Nov. 3, 1971).

In enacting section 624.429, the Florida Legislature has, in essence, adopted, on an annual and recurring basis, the laws and taxing schemes of 49 other states and foreign countries. There are, thus, 49 different versions of section 624.429, that may undergo significant and substantive changes each and every year. Each of those changes is a policy determination that is not being made by the Florida Legislature. As such, Florida's retaliatory tax violates the prohibition on unlawful delegation of legislative authority and should be declared unconstitutional.

### III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THAT FLORIDA'S RETAL-IATORY TAX, WHICH DISCRIMINATES AGAINST FOREIGN INSURERS, DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

#### A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT REQUIRING THE STATE TO ARTICU-LATE A LEGITIMATE STATE PURPOSE FOR ITS RETALIATORY TAX

The lower court erred in not declaring that Florida's retaliatory tax is unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. Constitution. (R. 871) The court was in error because the State failed to articulate a purpose for Florida's retaliatory tax and because the purposes found constitutional by the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Western & Southern Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>State Bd. of Equalization</u>, 451 U.S. 648 (1981), do not apply to Florida's retaliatory tax.

The lower court should have required the State to articulate a legitimate state purpose to support Florida's retaliatory tax or its facially discriminatory provisions. This was a matter of

proof which the State is required to prove. <u>See Scheinberg</u>; <u>Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Ward</u>, 470 U.S. 869, 874 (1985). <u>See infra</u>. Because this is a matter of proof, the lower court erred in not requiring the State to produce such proof. Because the State never presented any evidence as to the purpose for its retaliatory tax, the lower court was left to hypothesize as to such purposes with absolutely no basis in support of such.

#### B. FLORIDA'S RETALIATORY TAX LACKS A LEGITIMATE STATE PURPOSE

The lower court also erred by finding that the purposes for California's retaliatory tax, which were found constitutional by the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Western & Southern</u>, applied to Florida's retaliatory tax.<sup>23</sup>

In <u>Western & Southern</u>, the U.S. Supreme Court found that, because the amount of revenue raised by California's tax was relatively modest, the purpose of California's retaliatory tax was not to generate revenue, but rather to act as a deterrent to the <u>discriminatory</u> and excessive state taxation of the insurance industry. The Court held this to be a legitimate state purpose. 451 U.S. at 670.

Such a purpose, however, does not apply to Florida's retaliatory tax because of a significant distinction between the way in which California and Florida tax insurance.<sup>24</sup> Unlike Florida, California imposed no <u>discriminatory</u> insurance premium tax on foreign insurers, but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>In the Final Judgment, the lower court found, "That this tax is similar in structure to that declared constitutional by the United states Supreme Court in <u>Western & Southern Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>State Bd. of Equalization</u>, 451 U.S. 648 (1981). Accordingly, the retaliatory tax does not violate the Equal Protection Clause or the Due Process Clause ..." (R. 781)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>A retaliatory tax compares relative tax burdens imposed by states upon foreign insurers, with the primary measure being the insurance premium tax imposed by each of the various states.

rather taxed <u>equally</u> the insurance premiums of both foreign and domestic insurers. Florida, by contrast, taxed only the premiums of foreign insurance companies, exempting entirely the premiums of domestic insurance companies. (R. 1276-77, 1315-16; Exhs. 19-20) At trial, Dr. Hofflander testified that, as a result of Florida's retaliatory tax, a foreign insurer writing insurance in both Florida and its domicile will pay twice the taxes a Florida insurer will pay for writing the same business. Florida's retaliatory tax unconstitutionally discriminates in favor of Florida insurers. (R. 1315-16; Plaintiffs' Exh. 19)

California, therefore, was in a legitimate position to seek to deter other states from enacting discriminatory or excessive taxes as its tax structure was not discriminatory. Because Florida had enacted and was receiving significant tax revenues from its discriminatory insurance premium tax, it was not in a position to retaliate against states with no discriminatory taxing schemes. It is simply inconsistent for a state to retaliate against the insurance premium taxes of other states when that state engages in and receives substantial and significant revenues as a result of its own discriminatory tax. Florida's retaliatory tax, therefore, lacks a legitimate state purpose.

Indeed, Florida's tax creates the anomalous situation of retaliating against certain states, including states in which some of the Taxpayers are domiciled, even though those states did not have discriminatory taxes. (R. 1315-16) Florida's retaliatory tax is, thus, invalid under the holding in <u>Ward</u>.

The State may argue that, regardless of the discriminatory nature of its own tax, it should be permitted to impose a tax upon states that enact excessive, but not discriminatory, taxes. The State, however, did not assert that the taxes imposed by Taxpayers' state of domicile are

61

excessive. (R. 1361-1478.) In addition, there is no logic in applying <u>Western & Southern</u> to excessive taxation since, as long as a tax is not discriminatory against nonresidents, one state does not have an interest in the level of taxes in other states. The State of Florida's interest in the taxing structures of other states, so long as they are not discriminatory, does not constitute a legitimate state purpose, and Florida's retaliatory tax is therefore violative of the Equal Protection Clause. <u>See infra.<sup>25</sup></u>

# C. FLORIDA'S RETALIATORY TAX IS NOT RATIONALLY RELATED TO THE PURPOSE ASSERTED BY OTHER STATES

With regard to the second prong of the equal protection test, the State also failed to identify how Florida's retaliatory tax is rationally related to any legitimate state purpose. This relationship is clearly a factual issue for which the State has failed to present any proof. See <u>Minnesota v. Cloverleaf Creamery Co.</u>, 449 U.S. 456, 465 (1981). This precluded the court from entering judgment in favor of the State.

Moreover, it is clear from the evidence presented by Taxpayers that the Florida Legislature could not have rationally believed that Florida's retaliatory tax would further any legitimate state purpose. As set forth above, because Florida's insurance premium tax is discriminatory, it would not have been rational for the Florida Legislature to believe that, as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Finally, Florida's retaliatory tax lacks a legitimate state purpose and is unconstitutional under due process because Florida is using a discriminatory tax to encourage other states to abolish their discriminatory and unconstitutional taxing structures. As the courts have held, the remedy lies not in enacting a discriminatory tax, but rather in challenging the unconstitutional taxing structures. <u>See, e.g., New Energy Co. of Indiana v. Limbach</u>, 486 U.S. 269 (1988); <u>Sporhase v. Nebraska</u>, 458 U.S. 941 (1982); <u>Great Atlantic & Pac. Tea Co. v. Cottrell</u>, 424 U.S. 366 (1976); <u>Austin v. New Hampshire</u>, 420 U.S. 656 (1975); <u>Travis v. Yale & Towne Mfg. Co., 252 U.S. 60 (1920); <u>DABT v. McKesson Corp.</u>, 524 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1988); <u>DOR</u> <u>v. Private Truck Council of America, Inc.</u>, 531 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).</u>

result of its retaliatory tax, those states which had discriminatory tax structures would abandon theirs where Florida had not. Neither is it rational for the Florida Legislature to believe that states with uniform taxing rates greater than Florida's would lower their tax rate as a result of Florida's retaliatory tax when Florida continued to discriminate against foreign insurers in its insurance premium tax.

Accordingly, Florida's retaliatory tax is not rationally related to any legitimate state purpose and it, as such, violates the Equal Protection Clause. Finally, the trial court erred in declaring Florida's retaliatory tax constitutional even though the tax discriminates between foreign insurers without being rationally related to a legitimate state purpose. (R. 634-35) <u>See</u> § 624.429(3), Fla. Stat. (1985). The State freely admits that the purpose for discriminating between foreign insurers is to encourage domestication and investment of assets in Florida, purposes which were declared not to be legitimate in Ward.

## D. THE STATE'S APPLICATION OF FLORIDA'S RETALIATORY TAX IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED AND VIOLATES RECOGNIZED PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

The trial court also erred in not declaring that Florida's retaliatory tax is unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause as applied to Taxpayers in this case. By applying the retaliatory tax to offset refunds due Taxpayers under Florida's insurance premium tax, the State, in effect, is collecting an unconstitutional tax through the retaliatory tax.

Florida's retaliatory tax was designed to collect a tax based on the difference between the premium tax imposed by Florida on a foreign insurer operating in this state and the premium tax imposed by the foreign insurer's domicile. At no time, however, was the retaliatory tax designed to capture the tax imposed by Florida's insurance premium tax. Indeed, if that were

true, there would have been no need for the premium tax, as Florida's retaliatory tax, by itself, would have captured the amount imposed by Florida's premiums tax. It is a fundamental proposition that, in construing a statute, a court should avoid an absurd conclusion, <u>see Mills v. Korash</u>, 249 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), <u>cert. denied</u>, 263 So.2d 579 (Fla. 1972), and with regard to taxing statutes, resolve all ambiguities against the state and in the taxpayer's favor. <u>See, e.g., Mikos v. Ringling Bros. Barnum & Bailey Combined Shows, Inc.</u>, 497 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1986). Accordingly, it was error for the court to hold that the State could collect a premiums tax which the court declared unconstitutional through the State's retaliatory tax when the retaliatory tax was specifically designed by the Legislature not to include the premiums tax.

It is well settled that insurance retaliatory statutes are punitive in nature should be "strictly construed, executed with care, applied only to cases that clearly come within [their] terms." Equitable Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Commonwealth, 195 Va. 752, 80 S.E.2d 549, 554 (1954); Republic Ins. Co. v. Comm'r of Taxation, 272 Min. 325, 138 N.W.2d 776, 780-81 (1955); Occidental Life Ins. Co. of California v. Commonwealth, 6 Pa. Cmwlth. 532, 295 A.2d 853, 855-56 (1972). As the Supreme Court of Illinois commenting in interpreting the Illinois retaliatory tax:

The statute of the states here under consideration is plainly a retaliatory statute and as such must be strictly construed. We are not permitted to read into it words and meanings not found in the body of the act itself.

Pacific Mutual Life Ins. Co. of California v. Lowe, 354 Ill. 398, 198 N.E. 436, 439 (1933). See also Couch on Insurance, 2d § 21:93 at 585-87 (1959). IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO APPLY FLORIDA'S STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS TO THE PRO FORMA RETALIATORY TAX ASSESSMENTS

The trial court further erred in refusing to apply Florida's statute of limitations to the 1983 and 1984 pro forma retaliatory tax assessments issued by Appellant DOR on June 6, 1991, which assessments were issued subsequent to the initiation of this suit.<sup>26</sup> The pro forma assessments sought to impose retaliatory taxes under section 624.429 against Appellees for tax years 1983 through 1988. The pro forma assessments were issued in order to assert a claim for an increase in retaliatory taxes in the event Florida's insurance premium tax was struck for being unconstitutional. The 1983 and 1984 pro forma assessments, however, are barred by the statute of limitations contained in section 95.091, Florida Statutes.

The statute of limitations operates to bar the assessments of other retaliatory taxes by the State for the tax years 1983 and 1984. <u>See generally Henry v. Halifax Hospital Dist.</u>, 368 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); <u>Florida Industrial Comm'n v. Felda Lumber Co.</u>, 154 Fla. 507, 18 So.2d 362 (1944).<sup>27</sup> Indeed, the trial court found that the 1983 and 1984 proposed assessments issued by DOR on June 6, 1991, under section 624.429 were barred by the statute of limitations. (R. 782) Because Florida's statute of limitations bars the State's 1983 and 1984 proposed assessments, Florida's statute of limitation similarly applies to bar the State's 1983 and 1984 pro

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>On that same day, Appellant DOR also issued proposed retaliatory tax assessments against Appellees MIC and CIM for tax years 1983 through 1988, based upon adjustments made by Appellant to Appellees' 1983-1988 tax returns.

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